
Argyll and Bute Council
Comhairle Earra-Ghàidheal Agus Bhòid

Customer  Services
Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604435

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD

14 November 2018

NOTICE OF MEETING

A meeting of the ARGYLL AND BUTE LOCAL REVIEW BODY will be held in the COMMITTEE 
ROOM 1, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on WEDNESDAY, 21 NOVEMBER 2018 at 10:30 AM, 
which you are requested to attend.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director of Customer Services

BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3. CONSIDER NOTICE OF REVIEW REQUEST: LAND SOUTH OF 91 BULLWOOD 
ROAD, DUNOON, ARGYLL (REF: 18/0008/LRB) 

(a) Notice of Review and Supporting Documentation (Pages 3 - 26)

(b) Comments from Interested Parties (Pages 27 - 46)

(c) Comments from Applicant (Pages 47 - 48)

ARGYLL AND BUTE LOCAL REVIEW BODY

Councillor David Kinniburgh Councillor Jean Moffat
Councillor Sandy Taylor

Contact: Fiona McCallum    Tel: 01546 604392 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5

Central Validation Team at Argyll and Bute Council 1A Manse Brae Lochgilphead PA31 8RD  Tel: 01546 605518  Email: 
planning.hq@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

Applications cannot be validated until all the necessary documentation has been submitted and the required fee has been paid.

Thank you for completing this application form:

ONLINE REFERENCE 100113971-003

The online reference is the unique reference for your online form only. The  Planning Authority will allocate an Application Number when 
your form is validated. Please quote this reference if you need to contact the planning Authority about this application.

Applicant or Agent Details
Are you an applicant or an agent? * (An agent is an architect, consultant or someone else acting
on behalf of the applicant in connection with this application)  Applicant  Agent

Agent Details
Please enter Agent details

Company/Organisation:

Ref. Number: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

First Name: * Building Name:

Last Name: *  Building Number:

Address 1
Telephone Number: * (Street): *

Extension Number: Address 2:

Mobile Number: Town/City: *

Fax Number: Country: *

Postcode: *

Email Address: *

Is the applicant an individual or an organisation/corporate entity? *

  Individual    Organisation/Corporate entity

Architeco Ltd

Colin

Potter

Argyll Street

43

01369 701988

PA23 7HG

Argyll

Dunoon

admin@architeco.co.uk

Page 3 Agenda Item 3a



Page 2 of 5

Applicant Details
Please enter Applicant details

Title: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

Other Title: Building Name:

First Name: * Building Number:

Address 1
Last Name: * (Street): *

Company/Organisation Address 2:

Telephone Number: * Town/City: *

Extension Number: Country: *

Mobile Number: Postcode: *

Fax Number:

Email Address: *

Site Address Details
Planning Authority: 

Full postal address of the site (including postcode where available):

Address 1:  

Address 2:

Address 3:

Address 4:

Address 5:

Town/City/Settlement:

Post Code:

Please identify/describe the location of the site or sites

Northing Easting

Mr

Robert

Argyll and Bute Council

McNeil Bullwood Road

91

PA23 7QL

UK

674133

Dunoon

216312

Page 4



Page 3 of 5

Description of Proposal
Please provide a description of your proposal to which your review relates. The description should be the same as given in the 
application form, or as amended with the agreement of the planning authority: *
(Max 500 characters)

Type of Application
What type of application did you submit to the planning authority? *

  Application for planning permission (including householder application but excluding application to work minerals).

  Application for planning permission in principle.

  Further application.

  Application for approval of matters specified in conditions.

What does your review relate to? *

  Refusal Notice.

 Grant of permission with Conditions imposed.

  No decision reached within the prescribed period (two months after validation date or any agreed extension) – deemed refusal.

Statement of reasons for seeking review
You must state in full, why you are a seeking a review of the planning authority’s decision (or failure to make a decision). Your statement 
must set out all matters you consider require  to be taken into account in determining your review. If necessary this can be provided as a 
separate document in the ‘Supporting Documents’ section: *  (Max 500 characters)

Note: you are unlikely to have a further opportunity to add to your statement of appeal at a later date, so it is essential that you produce 
all of the information you want the decision-maker to take into account.

You should not however raise any new matter which was not before the planning authority at the time it decided your application (or at 
the time expiry of the period of determination), unless you can demonstrate that the new matter could not have been raised before that 
time or that it not being raised before that time is a consequence of exceptional circumstances.

Have you raised any matters which were not before the appointed officer  at the time the  Yes   No
Determination on your application was made? *

If yes, you should explain in the box below, why you are raising the new matter, why it was not raised with the appointed officer before 
your application was determined and why you consider it should be considered in your review: * (Max 500 characters)

SIte for the erection of dwellinghouse at Land South of 91 Bullwood Road Dunoon Argyll and Bute

This is supplied as separate document in 'supporting documents' section.

Page 5



Page 4 of 5

Please provide a list of all supporting documents, materials and evidence which you wish to submit with your notice of review and intend 
to rely on in support of your review. You can attach these documents electronically later in the process: * (Max 500 characters)

Application Details
Please provide details of the application and decision.

What is the application reference number? *

What date was the application submitted to the planning authority? *

What date was the decision issued by the planning authority? *

Review Procedure
The Local Review Body will decide on the procedure to be used to determine your review and may at any time during the review 
process require that further information or representations be made to enable them to determine the review. Further information may be 
required by one or a combination of procedures, such as: written submissions; the holding of one or more hearing sessions and/or 
inspecting the land which is the subject of the review case.

Can this review continue to a conclusion, in your opinion, based on a review of the relevant information provided by yourself and other 
parties only,  without any further procedures? For example, written submission, hearing session, site inspection. *
 Yes   No

In the event that the Local Review Body appointed to consider your application decides to inspect the site, in your opinion:

Can the site be clearly seen from a road or public land? *  Yes   No

Is it possible for the site to be accessed safely and without barriers to entry? *  Yes    No

If there are reasons why you think the local Review Body would be unable to undertake an unaccompanied site inspection, please 
explain here.  (Max 500 characters) 

1. 1415 Notice of Review 91 Bullwood Road 2. 1415-01-01B Location Plan  3. 1415 Location Plan with distances of surrounding 
settlement marked 4. Excerpt from historic OS Map (1900), with site marked in red 5. 1415-01-03A Existing Site Plan 6. 1415-01-
04A Proposed Site Plan 7. 1415-01-02 Design Statement 

18/01267/PPP

27/08/2018

None. 

30/05/2018

Page 6



Page 5 of 5

Checklist – Application for Notice of Review
Please complete the following checklist to make sure  you have provided all the necessary information in support of your appeal. Failure 
to submit all this  information may result in your appeal  being deemed invalid. 

Have you provided the name and address of the applicant?.  *  Yes   No

Have you provided the date and reference number of the application which is the subject of this  Yes   No
review? *

If you are the agent, acting on behalf of the applicant, have you provided details of your name   Yes   No   N/A
and address and indicated whether any notice or correspondence required in connection with the 
review should be sent to you or the applicant? *
Have you provided a statement setting out your reasons for requiring a review and by what  Yes   No
procedure (or combination of procedures) you wish the review to be conducted? *

Note: You must state, in full, why you are seeking a review on your application. Your statement must set out all matters you consider 
require to be taken into account in determining your review. You may not have a further opportunity to add to your statement of review 
at a later date. It is therefore essential that you submit with your notice of review, all necessary information and evidence that you rely 
on and wish the Local Review Body to consider as part of your review.
Please attach a copy of all documents, material and evidence which you intend to rely on  Yes   No
(e.g. plans and Drawings) which are now the subject of this review *

Note: Where the review relates to a further application e.g. renewal of planning permission or modification, variation or removal of a 
planning condition or where it relates to an application for approval of matters specified in conditions, it is advisable to provide the 
application reference number, approved plans and decision notice (if any) from the earlier consent.
 

Declare – Notice of Review
I/We the applicant/agent certify that this is an application for review on the grounds stated.

Declaration Name: Mr Colin Potter

Declaration Date: 05/10/2018
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Notice of Review 
Reference Number: 18/01267/PPP  
 
 
Site for the erection of dwellinghouse at Land South of 91 Bullwood Road, Dunoon, Argyll 
and Bute 
 
 
The Local Review Body is requested to consider this application and approve it for the 
following reasons: 
 
 

1. The refusal seems to misconstrue the nature and setting of the site. The refusal 
completely disregards our application for development on a brownfield site, failing to 
address the brownfield status of the site at all. The refusal states that the site is ‘unrelated 
and uncoordinated’ with the existing settlement. In fact, the site sits perfectly comfortably 
within the boundaries of an existing settlement and would contribute to a Sustainable 
Siting settlement pattern, as described in the authority’s Design Guidance.  

2. The refusal cites adverse environmental impact of a site at this location, related to visual 
quality of the dwelling. This would surely be almost totally dependent on the proposed 
design of the building, which, as this is an application for permission for Planning in 
Principle, has not been designed and therefore does not have a ‘visual quality’ as yet. 
Excellence of design could contribute a sustainable, positive environmental impact at this 
site.  

3. The refusal states that a large number of trees would need to be felled. This is untrue. No 
trees would need to be felled.  
 
These points are expanded upon below, in turn:  
 

1. Settlement Pattern  
 
The site is a brownfield site, within the existing settlement pattern. A development 
here would enhance and complement the existing settlement and surroundings.  

 
i) Site history – Brownfield site 
 
The first item relates to the existing settlement. Bullwood is a small coastal residential 
community with clusters of housing mostly formed along the coast, with some housing 
extending further up the contours of the hillside.  
 
The site under consideration has, in the past, been a cleared site within a larger 
settlement on the hillside, with a building (large enough to have been a dwelling house) 
previously sited on the site. (Please see enclosed maps for reference). 
 
The site where we propose the dwelling house was a clear, enclosed field, with a small 
building shown clearly on the OS map from 1900. The ground surrounding the site has 
historically been extensively used for servicing the Bullwood settlement – as nearby 
quarries, dairy, wells, flagpoles and sheep farming ground shown on historic maps show. 
Maps and documents show that the whole hillside was, prior to the Forestry Commission’s 
planting of commercial forestry, a heavily farmed, managed and coppiced landscape 
peppered with dwellings and associated buildings.  
 
The site was also likely to at one point have had a sentry post nearby, as the whole 
hillside formed part of the military site used from the First World War to the Second World 
War, as surveyed and recorded by RCHAMS.  

Page 9



 2 

 
The site has also been used as a caravan park, and has previously had planning 
permission granted for chalets, albeit some time ago.  
 
Clearly, the site has a long history of being built upon, used and inhabited. This is a 
vacant brownfield site. 
 
As we propose redeveloping a Brownfield site, this would enhance the local environment. 
The brownfield site was not mentioned in the Report of Handling, despite our proposal 
stating clearly that this is a brownfield site - and this is a serious omission. The Local 
Development Plan states that the ‘central challenge’ facing Argyll and Bute is sustainable 
economic growth; it suggests new development to support this growth should be ‘making 
best use of’ brownfield land.  
 
ii) Settlement pattern  
 
To address the question of the settlement pattern: The refusal states the site is ‘unrelated 
and uncoordinated’ with the existing settlement pattern. We argue that the site is both 
related to and coordinated with the existing settlement pattern. A building here would sit 
comfortably among the existing grouping, while maintaining plenty of space between 
dwellings.  
 
This correlates with a ‘dispersed, small-scale’ development pattern of low-density housing 
as described in 1.4 ‘Sustainable siting settlement patterns’ of the authority’s Sustainable 
Design Guidance.  
 
The proposed dwelling house would be roughly at the centre of a group of dwelling 
houses on the hillside. Measuring from the house walls at the nearest points, the 
distances of the proposed dwelling to existing houses are as follows: 
 
Three houses to North East – approx. 80metres  
One house to East – approx. 33 metres 
Two houses to South East approx. 33 metres 
One house to the South – approx. 67 metres 
Two Houses to the Northwest – approx. 80 metres 
 
Distances between existing houses along the seafront are: 33m; 29m; 57m; 47m.  
 
These distances show the site is not ‘away from’ existing buildings. The distances are 
comparable and form a pattern. The proposed dwelling therefore forms a pattern that 
relates well to neighbouring buildings and would not have an adverse impact on 
neighbouring houses.  
 
(Please see attached map for illustrations of these distances.) 
 
The proposed dwelling would therefore appear to be completely in keeping with the 
existing settlement pattern. It could be described as ‘rounding-off’, with the proposed 
dwelling the last house on an already existing access road, recreating the historic 
settlement pattern.   
 
Only in relatively recent years has this area been wooded, mostly with citka spruce grown 
as a monocrop for forestry harvesting, which is currently being felled.   
 
We take each of the policies noted in the refusal in turn below:  
 

Page 10



 3 

LDP STRAT1 
 
We note this site will fulfil the council’s ‘Sustainable Development’ Strategy, by making 
use of vacant land. The land is currently a cleared site, clear of trees (with the exception 
of self-seeded saplings and invasive Rhodedendron Ponticum). and unused for any other 
purpose. It is level and of a suitable size and location, with services nearby and access 
easily formed. It is an ideal location for a dwelling house that will amply fulfil the criteria of 
the LDP’s Sustainable Development policy.  
 
LDP DM1 
 
With regards to the Countryside zone, the LDP states that encouragement shall be given 
to small scale development on ‘appropriate infill, rounding off’ sites. We note this site is 
exactly this, and cannot be seen as otherwise, with the track leading past three detached 
houses at Ardhallow Park terminating at the far boundary of this site, and extending no 
further.  
 
LDP8 
 
We note this dwelling will provide new sustainable development and housing provision, as 
supported in this policy. We agree that the design of any dwelling in the Countryside zone 
should be carefully considered – as noted in policy LDP9 a high standard of design is 
needed, that effectively integrates with the setting of the development. We would suggest 
that a condition of planning that any building should be well designed and take into 
account the context, setting and landscape. This could include consideration of materials, 
size, height, landscaping, etc.  
 
SG LDP HOU2 
 
We do not see how the policy on Special Needs Access Provision is relevant to this 
application, any policies related to this would be complied with at detailed consent stage.  
 
 

2. Environmental Impact  
 
The site is currently a brownfield site. Sensitive development and excellent design 
could have a positive environmental impact and be sustainable development.  

 
 
The refusal describes the site as ‘divorced, exposed, elevated and unduly prominent’.  
 
As shown in response to point 1, the site is not divorced from the surrounding settlement 
by any criteria. It is close by and inbetween other dwellings and would sit comfortably 
among the other houses.  
 
The refusal describes a ‘woodland setting’, however we would argue that the hillside is 
already extensively developed, in a loose, low-density pattern. The proposed dwelling 
could be seen as ‘rounding-off’ of the housing development to the North-East, sited 
between that development and the farm steading higher up the hill. The site, as shown on 
historic OS maps, has previously had a building on it. This means this is a vacant 
brownfield site, as is quite clearly shown on maps. The refusal did not respond to our point 
that this is a brownfield site.  
 

Page 11



 4 

The site would form part of a row of houses that follow the same contour line above the 
shore line – at a mere 80m from three existing houses. We do not see how a house at this 
distance could be considered ‘divorced’ from the existing settlement pattern.  
 
The site is not exposed, being a clear site among mixed woodland and scrub. This 
woodland/vegetation would provide screening from all directions, and both the North and 
South approaches on the A815.  
 
The site is undeniably elevated, but any building would be screened from the round by 
existing trees surrounding the site, at least to the extent existing houses and recent 
developments are. The site would not be the most elevated dwelling on the hillside, by 
some degree. A single storey dwelling would be considerably less elevated than 
surrounding existing dwellings, and Garhallow Farm and associated buildings are all much 
higher on the slope.   
 
The description of the building as ‘unduly prominent’ relates to the design of the house, 
and depends on the height, materials, design and landscaping used.  It appears that the 
refusal has been based on an earlier planning application, detailing a two storey house. 
We ask that this application is considered on its own merits, rather than purely with 
reference to an outdated and entirely different application. The statement of handling 
notes ‘inappropriate design’ – quite how a planning in principle application can be termed 
an inappropriate design when no design has been submitted is questionable.  
 
We would say that the proposed dwelling house is infill or rounding off of existing 
settlement and will offer a building that will enhance the local area.  
 
As previously stated, we agree that any development within the Countryside zone should 
be sensitively designed with visual and environmental impact an important consideration. 
Excellence of design, sustainable design and a building that uses ecological principles are 
all things we would propose in a location like this. This, however, could surely be achieved 
with planning conditions to the design, which would of course need to be approved in due 
course.  
 
We posit that any design judgements would need to be made once a design had been 
submitted. A house that was single-storey, designed with impeccable eco-credentials, 
encompassing sustainable and excellent design could contribute to and enhance the local 
area. If designed well, it would contribute to the sustainable development policy supported 
by the council to encourage good design and housing supply. Furthermore, a house 
operating with a wood fuelled heating system supplied by coppicing the existing woodland 
would sustainably manage and maintain the woods, for example. There is great potential 
for a sustainable, beautiful and positive development on this existing brownfield site.  
 
We respond to the Policies cited in the Refusal below:  
 
LDP 10 – Maximising our Resources and Reducing Our Consumption  
 
This policy relates to environmental considerations. We agree that development on this 
site should follow sustainable design guidelines wherever possible. There is no reason to 
suggest that any proposed design or building should not follow these guidelines, and we 
would suggest that a planning proposal would still be subject to the decision of the 
planning officers, at which point these policies would be far more relevantly applied.   
The refusal describes the proposal as an ‘intrusive structure’. We do not see how this is 
possible, as no structure has yet been designed or proposed.  
 
SG LDP ENV14 - Landscape 

Page 12



 5 

 
The policy states that development will be resisted when it has a:  ‘significant adverse 
impact on the character of the landscape’.  
 
A development will only have significant adverse impact should it be badly designed, or if 
the materials, design, finish etc were unsuitable for the site. This is a matter of design, and 
it does not preclude all development on a site.  
 
As stated in the policy, the positive social, economic and environmental benefits should 
also be considered – this site would provide housing for our client and his family. It would 
bring a family back to the local area, which would benefit not only them but also help 
address the council area’s challenges of depopulation, contribute to the local economy 
during the build and subsequently. It seems the officer has focused entirely on the 
potential for negative impact, with no consideration of the potential positive impacts, which 
are considerable.  
 
Should the council feel that a development had adverse impact, there could, as suggested 
in the Policy, be various mitigation measures put in place – such as screening, planting, 
landscaping, as well as consideration of the materials, design, massing and size of the 
house itself. There is scope to enrich the biodiversity of the area by removal of invasive 
Rhododendrum Ponticum and planting of suitable native plants.  
  

The land at the site is not suitable for any other use; development here, if planned well, 
could easily be said to enhance what is currently vacant brownfield.  

 
 
 

3. Woodland  
 
 
The site is clear, with no mature trees in the proposed footprint of the house.  
 
LDP 3 – Supporting the Protection, Conservation and Enhancement of our Environment  
 
As is shown clearly on the map, the site is a rectangle that is clear of trees. There may be 
some small self-seeded saplings that have recently taken root, but there are certainly no 
mature or established trees that would require to be felled. The woodland surrounding the 
plot would not need to be felled, as there is plenty of space for a dwelling, access and 
parking on the clear site.  
 
It’s not clear from the Report of Handling how the officer has arrived at the decision that 
the site is wooded. The planning application asked if there were trees ‘on or adjacent to’ 
the site, with only the choice of ‘yes or no’, to which we stated ‘yes’, as there are 
deciduous trees adjacent to the site. These trees will not be affected by the development.  
 
 
We consider that it is important that this new application is considered without prejudice to 
previous applications, and on its own merits. It appears to us that much of this refusal was 
based on previous applications, and therefore is not applicable to this application – in 
particular where the refusal is referencing a design that was previously submitted and is 
not part of this application.  
 

Page 13



 6 

As architects specialising in sustainable and environmentally sensitive architecture, the 
enhancement and sustainable management of the landscape is utmost in our 
consideration.  
 
SG LDP ENV 6 - Development Impact on Trees / Woodland  

1.1.4. Development may provide opportunities for new planting.  

As stated, there are no mature trees on the site, and no trees would require to be felled in 
order to build. There are trees on the boundary of the site; these would be unaffected by 
building.  

There is scope for new planting on the site. This could be of native species and in 
accordance with the local pattern of woodlands. This could be demonstrated by a planting 
scheme and/or landscaping statement/design, and as suggested in policy, could enhance 
the landscape character.  

 

Page 14



Modified by
B.S

Checked by
C.L.P

Drawing Name
Location Plan

Drawing Status
Planning in Principle

Drawing Scale @A3

1:2500
Drawing Number
1415-01-02

Date

27/06/2018

Modified
by

DescriptionDateRevision

Revision History

Project

Mr Mcneil

Ardhallow  Innellan

Planning in Principle

Copyright ARCHITECO 2018

Do not scale construction dimensions from this drawing. All

dimensions are to be verified prior to construction.

Notes

ARCHITECO
SUSTAINABLE DESIGN & LOW ENERGY BUILDING SPECIALISTS

  43 Argyll Street, Dunoon PA23 7HG                    01369 70 1988

info@architeco.co.uk                             www.architeco.co.uk

B

A 20.06.18 BSAmmended in response to schedule

Mapping contents (c) Crown copyright and
database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100035207

NN

1:2500
20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200m

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Drawn by

Drawing Name:
Location Plan

Drawing Status:
Planning in Principle

Checked by

1:1250

Drawing Number

20

project Stage number rev Scale @  A4

Date

Sketch

DescriptionDateRevision

Revision History:

Project:

Mr McNeil
Ardhallow Innellan

Notes:

ARCHITECO
SUSTAINABLE DESIGN & LOW ENERGY BUILDING SPECIALISTS

  43 Argyll Street, Dunoon PA23 7HG                    01369 70 1988
info@architeco.co.uk                             www.architeco.co.uk

011415

AMD ——— 21/09/2018

Mapping Contents (c) Crown Copyright and
Database Rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100035207

40.8

35.3

65
.8

24.4

31
.6

59
.7

47
.5

115.3

90.9

89.9

84.434
.1

93.3

15
.7

Ballibruach

Garhallow

Tank

Mea
n H

igh
 W

ate
r S

pr
ing

s

BU
LL

W
OOD 

RO
AD

Sh
ing

le 
an

d 
Bo

uld
er

s

M
ea

n 
Lo

w 
W

at
er

 S
pr

in
gs

91

Thie Vane

Ar
dh

all
ow

 H
ou

se

Briensco

Allanbank

Lasata

MS

Rockvale

1 1/2 Storey

Bu
ng

alo
w

1 1/2 Storey

1 1/2 Storey

0 5 100m2010

NN
Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Modified by
B.S

Checked by
C.L.P

Drawing Name
Existing Site Plan

Drawing Status
Planning in Principle

Drawing Scale @A3

1:500
Drawing Number
1415-01-04

Date
21/06/2018

Modified
byDescriptionDateRevision

Revision History

Project

Mr Mcneil
Ardhallow  Innellan
Planning in Principle

Copyright ARCHITECO 2018
Do not scale construction dimensions from this drawing. All
dimensions are to be verified prior to construction.

Notes

ARCHITECO
SUSTAINABLE DESIGN & LOW ENERGY BUILDING SPECIALISTS

  43 Argyll Street, Dunoon PA23 7HG                    01369 70 1988
info@architeco.co.uk                             www.architeco.co.uk

A

A 20.06.18 BSAmmended in response to schedule

0 5 10 15 20 25
1:500

50metres

NN

0.
1:500

Exisitng Site Plan

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Modified by
B.S

Checked by
C.L.P

Drawing Name
Proposed Site Plan

Drawing Status
Planning in Principle

Drawing Scale @A3

1:500
Drawing Number
1415-01-05

Date
21/06/2018

Modified
byDescriptionDateRevision

Revision History

Project

Mr Mcneil
Ardhallow  Innellan
Planning in Principle

Copyright ARCHITECO 2018
Do not scale construction dimensions from this drawing. All
dimensions are to be verified prior to construction.

Notes

ARCHITECO
SUSTAINABLE DESIGN & LOW ENERGY BUILDING SPECIALISTS

  43 Argyll Street, Dunoon PA23 7HG                    01369 70 1988
info@architeco.co.uk                             www.architeco.co.uk

A

A 20.06.18 BSAmmended in response to schedule

0 5 10 15 20 25
1:500

50metres

NN

0.
1:500

Proposed Site Plan

Proposed Dwelling

Extend Existing Road to
create access to

property

Parking for 2 cars
and Turning space

Garden

Note:
Layout Indicative Only

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Drawn by
B.S

Drawing Scale

Drawing Number

1415-01-02
Revision

-

Date
08/05/2018

Drawing Name

Design Statement

ARCHITECO
SUSTAINABLE DESIGN & LOW ENERGY BUILDING SPECIALISTS

  43 Argyll Street, Dunoon PA23 7HG                    01369 70 1988
info@architeco.co.uk                             www.architeco.co.uk

Copyright ARCHITECO 2018
Do not scale construction dimensions from this drawing. All
dimensions are to be verified prior to construction.

Notes

The site

The site is a brownfield site located in Ardhallow, within the woodland area above Bullwood Road (A815). The site is in
a residential area with many houses close by, overlooking the Firth of Clyde.
Access to the site is currently from A815, using an unnamed road which accesses 3 dwellings. The site is 1,125m2 and
is bound by forest land and other properties.

The Proposal

The proposal is for a new dwelling to be built on a brownfield site.  We believe Planning Approval should be granted
for the re-use of a brownfield site.
The proposal will include the extension of the existing access road onto the site to create a new road, parking and
turning areas.
The proposal will be hidden within the tree landscape and will not create an impact to the views from the road.

Location on the Site

The property is situated on the West of the site to allow room for a new access road coming from the East. The
location of the property will make the most of the views out over the firth of clyde.
The location on the site will allow for a new access road, turning circle and parking for two cars, as well as garden
space for the property.

Summary

This proposal is for a new dwelling house to be built on a brownfield site. We believe this proposal provides an
appropriately sited and designed  dwelling that will allow for a comfortable home whilst not affecting the
surrounding landscape.

  1415                                                                                                                                Ardhallow, McNeilPage 23



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



STATEMENT OF CASE

FOR

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL
LOCAL REVIEW BODY

18/0008/LRB

REVIEW AGAINST REFUSAL OF PLANNING PERMISSION 
IN PRINCIPLE REF. 18/01267/PPP

LAND SOUTH OF 91 BULLWOOD ROAD, DUNOON, 
ARGYLL

29/10/2018

Page 27 Agenda Item 3b



STATEMENT OF CASE

The Planning Authority is Argyll and Bute Council (“the Council”). The appellant is Mr. Robert 
McNeil, 91 Bullwood Road, Dunoon. The agent is Colin Potter of Architeco Ltd. 

Planning application ref. 18/01267/PPP, which proposed the erection of a dwellinghouse on 
land south of 91 Bullwood Road, Dunoon (“the appeal site”), was refused on 27th August 2018.  

The planning decision has been challenged on the basis of the appellant’s agent’s comments 
below that are the subject of review by the Local Review Body.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

In the adopted Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan (LDP), the appeal site is located within 
the Countryside Zone which forms the backdrop to the Bullwood / Dunoon coastal settlement 
zone. The appeal site is located off a private road currently serving five dwellinghouses.

The appeal site occupies an exposed and elevated location on the western periphery outwith 
the Dunoon settlement area above the A815, south-west by some 85m of a group of three 
modern dwellinghouses (Briensco, Allanbank and Lasata) and west of and above Ardhallow 
House and Thie Vane by some 42m. The applicant’s own dwellinghouse Garhallow, is situated 
at a higher level north-west of the application site. The appeal site is served by a private access 
from the A815 Bullwood Road which serves Ardhallow Gate Lodge before climbing the 
wooded hillside with the lower spur serving the three dwellinghouse and the application site 
and a higher spur serving Garhallow with a connection through mixed woodland to the main 
Dunoon to Innellan Timber Haul Route, approximately 1km to the west.    

Planning Permission in Principle is sought to erect a single dwellinghouse on a narrow strip of 
woodland (approximately 80 x 13m) south-west of an existing cluster of three dwellinghouses. 
Only indicative details have been submitted at this stage which show a rectangular building 
footprint of 15 x 6 metres located centrally within the site with the long front elevation facing 
the Firth of Clyde. The existing private access serving the three dwellinghouses nearby would 
be extended to create an access for the proposed dwellinghouse. An indicative parking and 
turning layout is shown at the northern end of the site. The remainder of the site would be 
garden ground. It is proposed to connect to the public water supply and public sewer network 
and remove trees to create the development site. 

SITE HISTORY

There is an extensive site history detailed in the report of handling in Appendix A.  However, 
the most notable and recent is referred to below for ease of reference.  The site has previously 
been referred to as ‘plot 4’ and part of a wider scheme of development.

A detailed application (ref. 02/01249/DET) for the erection of a dwellinghouse on ‘Plot 4’ was 
refused by Committee on 3rd September 2002 and a subsequent appeal (ref. 
03/00003/REFPLA, P/PPA/130/94) dismissed on 28th April 2003. These applications were 
refused primarily against the provisions of the Cowal Local Plan 2004 on the basis that a 
dwellinghouse would be out of context in terms of settlement character and the three dwellings 
adjacent, inappropriate design and siting, and loss of woodland as a key environmental 
feature.

A further detailed application (ref. 04/02235/DET) was withdrawn on 22nd November 2004 
under Section 39 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 where the Council 
declined to determine the application having regard to the appeal decision and the fact that 
the application was submitted within two years from the date of the appeal decision. The 

Page 28



applicants were advised that they would be entitled to submit another application two years 
after the date of the appeal decision i.e. after 28th April 2005 where the views of the Reporter 
in his appeal decision would weigh most heavily in any recommendation, the Reporter noting 
that:

“I have taken into account the existing dwellings on the track leading to this site, but I am not 
persuaded that it would from infill or rounding off. They form a separate group distinct from the 
appeal site. Neither would it reflect the general pattern of coastal development in this part of 
Bullwood….. I am satisfied that the reasons for granting permission for these other houses 
were based on a different premise from this proposals.”

The applicants however were advised that should an application be submitted after 28th April 
2005, the department would not support the principle of development. 

A pre-application enquiry (ref. 11/01556/PREAPP) to site a dwellinghouse on the application 
site was received 19th August 2011 where the proposed development was not regarded as 
infill, rounding-off, change of use or redevelopment in a wooded and prominent area of 
Countryside Around Settlement, therefore contrary to both the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan 
and Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009). It was also considered that the previous 
reasons for refusal were still relevant albeit covered by updated policies. On this basis and the 
surrounding landscape character and settlement pattern, the department were unable to offer 
support for a dwellinghouse in this location. 

STATUTORY BASIS ON WHICH THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DECIDED

Section 25 of the Town & Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 provides that where, in 
making any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the development 
plan and determination shall be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. This is the test for this planning application.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Argyll and Bute Council considers the determining issues in relation to the case are as 
follows:-

- Whether the siting of the proposed dwellinghouse is acceptable in terms of the existing 
settlement character within the wooded Countryside Zone?

- Whether the proposed development would adversely affect the immediate settlement 
character?

- Whether the proposed dwellinghouse represents acceptable infill, rounding-off or 
redevelopment within the Countryside Zone?

- Whether the proposed development on a prominent site would result in adverse visual 
impact?

- Whether the proposed development on a prominent site would result in adverse impact 
on the wooded hillside?

The Report of Handling dated 24th August 2018 [Appendix 1] sets out the Council’s 
assessment of the application in terms of Development Plan policy and other material 
considerations. Photographs are included within this response to illustrate the nature of the 
site surroundings and help explain the issues related to in the text below.

Page 29



COMMENT ON APPELLANT’S SUBMISSION

The appellants’ statement can be summarised under the following key issues:

1. The refusal seems to misconstrue the nature and setting of the site. The refusal completely 
disregards our application for development on a brownfield site, failing to address the 
brownfield status of the site at all. The refusal states that the site is ‘unrelated and 
uncoordinated’ with the existing settlement. In fact, the site sits perfectly comfortably within 
the boundaries of an existing settlement and would contribute to a Sustainable Siting 
settlement pattern, as described in the authority’s Design Guidance.

2. The refusal cites adverse environmental impact of a site at this location, related to visual 
quality of the dwelling. This would surely be almost totally dependent on the proposed design 
of the building, which, as this is an application for permission for Planning in Principle, has not 
been designed and therefore does not have a ‘visual quality’ as yet. Excellence of design 
could contribute a sustainable, positive environmental impact at this site.

3. The refusal states that a large number of trees would need to be felled. This is untrue. No
trees would need to be felled.

Taking each of the appellant’s agent’s expanded comments in turn:

1. Nature and setting of the site.  

In the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan, Brownfield sites are described as:

“sites comprising land which has previously been developed. The term may encompass 
vacant or derelict land, infill sites, land occupied by redundant or unused buildings, and 
developed land within the settlement boundary* where further intensification of use is 
considered acceptable.

*In addition to brownfield land, the settlements can include land which has not previously 
been developed such as infill and rounding off land on the settlement periphery within the 
settlement boundary.”

In the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan, Redevelopment is described as:

“a development of new buildings involving significant demolitions; or the extension of a 
building involving more than a doubling of the cubic volume of the building but not 
exceeding three times the cubic volume (less than a doubling being treated as a building 
extension and more than a trebling, as new build).” 

Contrary to the agent’s comments, the appeal site is clearly not a brownfield site with no 
sign of any evidence of recent or historic development. The appeal site is characterised by 
a thick cover of semi-mature trees with very limited areas of clearings where trees have 
been unable to take root due to damp ground conditions. There is currently no visibility 
outwards from the appeal site as can be clearly seen from the photographs which were 
taken from the centre of the site. 

Page 30



There is however evidence of a World War II observation post on the upper tier beyond the 
existing three dwellinghouses but there is no evidence of any form of development that would 
constitute either a redevelopment in the Countryside Zone or classified as a Brownfield site. 
The appeal site has been zoned within a Rural / Countryside Zone since the Cowal Local Plan 
was adopted in 1995 and currently within the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan 2015.  
The essence of the policy governing this area type has not significantly altered during this 
time.  
 
The agent has referred to a cleared site where there once were buildings / structures. Visits 
to the site revealed that it is heavily vegetated and cannot be readily viewed from the end of 
the private access road. Officers do not recognise the appeal site described by the appellant’s 
agent.  With all Brownfield sites there is an environmental benefit to remediating and 
developing land.  However, in this instance, as seen from the photographs above, there is no 
evidence of previous development and certainly no cleared areas.  Significant semi mature 
trees would need to be felled in order to create a cleared area for development.  There would 
not be an environmental gain but rather an unfortunate intrusion into the unbuilt countryside 
edge to the settlement.  It is not clear to what former development works the agent is referring 
to in their submission.  

It should be noted for the sake of clarity that the reference to policy SG LDP HOU2 is incorrect.  
This is a minor typographical error where policy SG LDP HOU1 is the policy referred to and 
assessed in the Report of Handling.  

2. Environmental Impact

Planning response: 
The review site has been the subject to significant numbers of planning applications over the 
years and each time they have been refused.  There has been no real change in policy terms 
with the site always having been considered a ‘rural / countryside’ zone.  Planning history is a 

Page 31



material consideration in the determination of planning applications and officers have applied 
a consistent approach over the years refusing each application.  This approach was supported 
by the Scottish Government Reporter during the most recent appeal in 2004.  A pre-application 
enquiry was made in 2011 and assessed under the auspices of the Local Plan 2009.  Again, 
the policy position from the former Cowal Plan had not changed and the appellant advised 
accordingly.  We are now in a position where the appellant has decided to apply under the 
current Local Development Plan which has essentially adopted the same policy approach as 
per previous plans.    

3. Woodland
The issue of the site as Brownfield land has already been addressed. The appeal site is 
characterised by a dense cover of semi-mature trees and saplings with very limited clearings 
which appear too damp for trees to take root. There is currently no visibility outwards from the 
appeal site as can be clearly seen from the photographs above which were taken from the 
centre of the site looking in all directions.

Whilst no design details were submitted with the current application for Planning Permission 
in Principle, the drawings provided an indicative building footprint and driveway access to 
suggest how the site may be developed. Any development within the appeal site would require 
a significant amount of trees and shrubs to be cleared as the site is currently heavily overgrown 
with a variety of semi-mature trees and saplings. Such trees and shrubs provide some general 
landscape, habitat and biodiversity value.  To afford a proposed dwellinghouse sufficient 
daylight and aspect, this would necessitate the creation of a further clearing south of the 
existing group of three dwellinghouses. 

The ground clearing works necessary for the development would result in further erosion of 
the wooded hillside with adverse visual impacts when viewed from further afield.  No visual 
images were submitted by the agent at the time of the application demonstrating the 
successful integration of a dwellinghouse on this part of the wooded hillside. 

Further matters:
Since the refusal of the planning application Historic Environment Scotland has notified the 
planning authority that the Ardhallow Battery and Defences has been designated a Scheduled 
Ancient Monument (SM13683). The area of the SAM lies immediately to the west and south 
of the appeal site and may have implications for development of the site. A plan of the 
Ardhallow Battery and Defences is attached below.  

Boundary of Scheduled Ancient Monument with Appeal site adjacent the east edge.  

Page 32



The monument comprises a coast artillery battery and landward defences built between 1901 
and 1905 with alterations during the First and Second World Wars. It is visible as the remains 
of three gun emplacements with subterranean magazines, a battery observation post, 
trenches, dugouts and the earthworks of a number of blockhouses. The battery and defences 
are located on the east-facing slopes of Corlarach Hill, around 3km south of Dunoon, on the 
Firth of Clyde.

This monument is of national importance as a well-preserved example of pre-First World War 
coast artillery battery in Scotland, used and modified during the First and Second World Wars 
when it formed part of a wider network of coastal batteries to defend the important port and 
ship-building centre on the Clyde. Key structural elements of a coast battery survive to a 
marked degree at Ardhallow, including the gun emplacements, magazines, command post 
and battery observation post. The site is also notable for a very rare surviving network of 
landward defences in the form of trenches and blockhouses. These imposing concrete 
structures and associated defences are a tangible and powerful reminder of two of the defining 
events of the 20th Century. If this monument was to be lost or damaged, it would significantly 
affect our ability to understand the nature and scale of the efforts made to defend Britain 
against enemy naval threats in the early 20th Century and during the First and Second World 
Wars.

CONCLUSION

Section 25 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 requires that all decisions 
be made in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

The attached Report of Handling [Appendix 1] clearly details why Planning Permission in 
Principle could not be supported due to the siting of the proposed dwellinghouse in a 
prominent wooded location which was contrary to the surrounding settlement pattern with 
adverse visual and landscape impacts.  The application necessitated a straight forward policy 
refusal against LDP DM 1 and LDP HOU 1.   

The original reasons for refusal are set out below. 

1. In the absence of any sound locational need for a dwelling, development of this hillside on 
the western periphery of Bullwood is unrelated and uncoordinated with the existing 
settlement pattern of the area contrary to the provisions of policies LDP STRAT1, LDP 
DM1, LDP8, LDP9 and SG LDP HOU2 of the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan in 
that the Countryside Zone in which the application site is located, does not have the 
general capacity to successfully absorb any scale of new housing development located 
away from existing buildings. The proposed development does not represent infill, 
rounding-off, or redevelopment and there is no specific locational need for a dwellinghouse 
in this location. 

2. The proposed development would result in an adverse environmental impact having 
regard to the divorced, exposed, elevated and unduly prominent location within this 
sensitive and fragile woodland within the Countryside Zone. The landscape quality of the 
area is neither maintained nor enhanced and a new dwelling at this site would fail to reflect 
the coastal development of this area which are key features of the landscape that provide 
visual relief and a significant contribution to the landscape. The western slopes above 
Bullwood do not have the capacity to assimilate new individual isolated dwellinghouses 
that are separated or divorced from the existing coastal corridor having regard to the 
established settlement pattern.

Page 33



By virtue of its divorced location and undue prominence within this sensitive and fragile 
woodland, development of the site for a dwellinghouse would be clearly visible from the 
A815 and the site cannot be developed without establishing an adverse environmental 
impact to the detriment of the rural landscape. The proposal will represent an intrusive 
structure within the surrounding rural landscape contrary to the provisions of policies LDP 
10 and SG LDP ENV14 of the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan.

3. The proposal by virtue of the necessity to fell a large number of trees within this woodland 
is contrary to the provisions of policies LDP 3 and SG LDP ENV6 of the Argyll and Bute 
Local Development Plan which states that the Council will resist development likely to have 
an adverse impact on trees by ensuring through the development management process 
that adequate provision is made for the preservation of and where appropriate the planting 
of new woodland/trees, including compensatory planting and management agreements.

The agent’s argument is based on the fact that the appeal site is a Brownfield site that could 
accommodate a dwellinghouse as a rounding-off or extension to the existing group of three 
dwellinghouses and that the previous planning history and appeal decision has little weight.  

Officers do not share the view of the appellant’s agent and consider that no argument has 
been made for the locational need of a dwellinghouse in this wooded location and that it cannot 
be regarded as an exception to adopted policies.  It is up to the decision makers what 
weighting to apply to the planning history and given the consistent policy stance since the 
Cowal Plan 2004 it is logical to maintain this position.  

The western slopes above Bullwood do not have the capacity to assimilate new individual 
isolated dwellinghouses that are separated or divorced from the existing coastal corridor 
having regard to the established settlement pattern. By virtue of its divorced location and 
undue prominence within this sensitive and fragile woodland, development of the site for a 
dwellinghouse would be clearly visible from the A815 and the site cannot be developed without 
establishing an adverse environmental impact to the detriment of the rural landscape. 

The proposal by virtue of the necessity to fell a large number of trees within this wooded 
hillside would have an adverse impact that could not be mitigated against given the 
requirements for daylighting and aspect for a proposed dwellinghouse. 

Accordingly, and on the basis of all of the above, the department maintains its position of 
refusal under the terms of policies LDP STRAT1, LDP DM1, LDP 3, LDP 8, LDP 9, SG LDP 
ENV6, SG LDP ENV14, and LDP HOU1 and SG2 of the Argyll and Bute Local Development 
Plan, all of which presume against the nature of the development proposed.

Taking account of all of the above, it is respectfully requested that the appeal be dismissed 
and Planning Permission in Principle refused as per original recommendation.  

Page 34



Appendix 1

Delegated or Committee Planning Application Report and Report of handling as 
required by Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013 relative to applications for Planning 
Permission or Planning Permission in Principle

_________________________________________________________________________

Reference No: 18/01267/PPP

Planning Hierarchy: Local application

Applicant: Mr McNeil

Proposal:     Site for the erection of a dwellinghouse.

Site Address: Land south of 91 Bullwood Road, Dunoon, Argyll.

_________________________________________________________________________

DECISION ROUTE 

(i) Sect 43 (A) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 
______________________________________________________________________

(A) THE APPLICATION

(i) Development Requiring Express Planning Permission

 Erection of dwellinghouse (no details submitted other than an indicative 
plan identifying a rectangular shaped dwellinghouse with a footprint of 15 x 
6 metres) within a wooded area in an elevated location above the A815;

 Extension and alteration to existing private access road. 
 Formation of on-site car parking and turning (indicative);

(ii) Other specified operations
 Connection to public water main;
 Connection to public sewer;
 Clearance and removal of vegetation within site.

_________________________________________________________________________

 (B) RECOMMENDATION:

Having due regard to the Development Plan and all other material considerations, it is 
recommended that the application be refused for the reasons appended to this report. 

_________________________________________________________________________

(C) HISTORY:  

The proposal to site a dwellinghouse on this prominent wooded site (also known as ‘Plot 
4’) has an extensive planning history and this is summarised below. 

Ref. 15,290: Detailed planning permission was granted on the 12th August 1974 for the 
erection of 27 chalets which included part of this application site. This permission was 
never implemented.

Page 35



An outline application (ref.01/01331/OUT) for the erection of a dwellinghouse on ‘Plot 4’ 
was refused by Committee on 5th October 2001.

A detailed application (ref. 02/01249/DET) for the erection of a dwellinghouse on ‘Plot 4’ 
was refused by Committee on 3rd September 2002 and a subsequent appeal (ref. 
03/00003/REFPLA, P/PPA/130/94) dismissed on 28th April 2003. These applications 
were refused primarily against the provisions of the Cowal Local Plan on the basis that 
a dwellinghouse would be out of context in terms of settlement character and the three 
dwellings adjacent, inappropriate design and siting, and loss of woodland as a key 
environmental feature.

A further detailed application (ref. 04/02235/DET) was withdrawn on 22nd November 
2004 under Section 39 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 where 
the Council declined to determine the application having regard to the appeal decision 
and the fact that the application was submitted within two years from the date of the 
appeal decision. The applicants were advised that they would be entitled to submit 
another application two years after the date of the appeal decision i.e. after 28th April 
2005 where the views of the Reporter in his appeal decision would weigh most heavily 
in any recommendation, the Reporter noting that:

 “I have taken into account the existing dwellings on the track leading to this site, but I 
am not persuaded that it would from infill or rounding off. They form a separate group 
distinct from the appeal site. Neither would it reflect the general pattern of coastal 
development in this part of Bullwood….. I am satisfied that the reasons for granting 
permission for these other houses were based on a different premise from this 
proposals.”

The applicants however were advised that should an application be submitted after 28th 
April 2005, the department would not support the principle of development. 

A pre-application enquiry (ref. 11/01556/PREAPP) to site a dwellinghouse on the 
application site was received 19th August 2011 where the proposed development was 
not regarded as infill, rounding-off, change of use or redevelopment in a wooded and 
prominent area of Countryside Around Settlement, therefore contrary to both the Argyll 
and Bute Structure Plan and Argyll and Bute Local Plan (August 2009). It was also 
considered that the previous reasons for refusal were still relevant albeit covered by 
updated policies. On this basis and the surrounding landscape character and settlement 
pattern, the department were unable to offer support for a dwellinghouse in this location. 

Associated History of the former Caravan Park

Ref 386/80: Detailed planning permission was granted on the 27th August 1980 for 9 
caravans on land to the north of this application site. 

95/05081/OUT: Outline permission was granted on the 22nd February 1996 for three 
houses within the confines of the former caravan park at Ardhallow. The application was 
supported on the basis that it would result in an environmental gain through the removal 
of the existing caravans, which had become somewhat dilapidated. 

98/01328/DET: Detailed planning permission was granted on the 10th November 1998 
for the erection of a house within plot 2 (now Allanbank) of the outline permission site. 

99/01600/DET: Detailed planning permission was granted on the 10th November 1999 
for the erection of a house within plot 2 (now Allanbank) of the outline permission site. 

Page 36



00/01540/DET: Detailed planning permission was granted on the 8th December 2000 
for the erection of a house within plot 1 (now Lasata) of the outline permission site. 

01/00587/DET:  A detailed application for a house within plot 3 was withdrawn by the 
applicants on the 22nd May 2001. A detailed application (ref. 01/01442/DET) for a house 
within plot 3 (now Briensco) was granted 18th October 2001 with a variation to that 
permission ref. 04/00465/VARCON of condition 6 of planning permission 01/01442/DET 
to retain raised front patio and side conservatory granted 5th May 2004.

_________________________________________________________________________

(D) CONSULTATIONS:  

Roads (response dated 13th July 2018): No objections subject to conditions regarding 
sightlines and parking requirements.  

Scottish Water (response dated 29th June 2018): No objections in principle. Capacity 
in public water system but wastewater capacity issues. General advice on surface 
water and regulatory matters.   

_________________________________________________________________________

(E) PUBLICITY:  The application was advertised under Regulation 20(1) Advert 
(publication date 13th July 2018, expiry date 3rd August 2018). Neighbour notification 
expired on 18th July 2018. 

_________________________________________________________________________

(F) REPRESENTATIONS:  None. 

______________________________________________________________________

(G) SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Has the application been the subject of:

(i) Environmental Statement:  No
(ii) An appropriate assessment under the Conservation (Natural Habitats) 

Regulations   1994:   No 
(iii) A design or design/access statement:   No 
(iv) A report on the impact of the proposed development e.g. Retail impact, 

transport impact, noise impact, flood risk, drainage impact etc:  No
_________________________________________________________________________

(H) PLANNING OBLIGATIONS

(i) Is a Section 75 obligation required:  No   
_________________________________________________________________________

(I) Has a Direction been issued by Scottish Ministers in terms of Regulation 30, 31 
or 32:  No   

_________________________________________________________________________

(J) Section 25 of the Act; Development Plan and any other material considerations 
over and above those listed above which have been taken into account in the 
assessment of the application

Page 37



(i) List of all Development Plan Policy considerations taken into account in 
assessment of the application.

Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan (26th March 2015)

LDP STRAT1 Sustainable Development;
LDP DM1 Development within the Development Management Zones;
LDP 3 Supporting the Protection, Conservation and Enhancement of our 
Environment; 
LDP 8 Supporting the Strength of Our Communities;
LDP 9 Development Setting, Layout and Design;
LDP 10 Maximising our Resources and Reducing Our Consumption;
LDP 11 Improving our Connectivity and Infrastructure.

Argyll and Bute Supplementary Guidance (approved March 2016)

SG LDP ENV 1 Development Impact on Habitats Species and our 
Biodiversity;
SG LDP ENV6 Development Impact on Trees / Woodland;
SG LDP ENV14 Landscape;
SG LDP HOU1 General Housing Development;
SG LDP SERV1 Private Sewage Treatment Plants and Wastewater 
Systems; 
SG LDP SERV2 Incorporation of Natural Features / Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS); 
SG LDP TRAN4 New and Existing Public Roads and Private Access 
Regimes;
SG LDP TRAN6 Vehicle Parking Provision;
SG2 Sustainable Siting and Design Principles.

(ii) List of all other material planning considerations taken into account in 
the assessment of the application, having due regard to Annex A of 
Circular 4/2009.  

Planning history;
SPP, 2016;
Consultee responses;
Argyll and Bute Council Sustainable Design Guide, 2006.

_________________________________________________________________________

 (K) Is the proposal a Schedule 2 Development not requiring an Environmental 
Impact Assessment:  No 

_________________________________________________________________________

(L) Has the application been the subject of statutory pre-application consultation 
(PAC):   No

_________________________________________________________________________

(M) Has a sustainability check list been submitted:  No

_________________________________________________________________________

(N) Does the Council have an interest in the site:  No.  

Page 38



_________________________________________________________________________

(O) Requirement for a hearing:  No

_________________________________________________________________________

(P) Assessment and summary of determining issues and material considerations

The Proposal

In the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan (LDP), the application site is located 
within the Countryside Zone which forms the backdrop to the Bullwood / Dunoon 
coastal settlement zone. The application site is located off a private road currently 
serving five dwellinghouses.
The site occupies an exposed and elevated location on the western periphery outwith 
the Dunoon settlement area above the A815, south-west by some 85m of a group of 
three dwellinghouses (Briensco, Allanbank and Lasata) and west of and above 
Ardhallow House and Thie Vane by some 42m. The applicant’s own dwellinghouse 
Garhallow, is situated at a higher level north of the application site. The application site 
is served by a private access from the A815 Bullwood Road which serves Ardhallow 
Gate Lodge before climbing the wooded hillside with the lower spur serving the three 
dwellinghouse and the application site and a higher spur serving Garhallow with a 
connection through mixed woodland to the main Dunoon to Innellan Timber Haul 
Route, approximately 1km to the west.    
Planning Permission in Principle is sought to erect a single dwellinghouse on a narrow 
strip of woodland (approximately 80 x 13m) south-west of an existing cluster of three 
dwellinghouses. Only indicative details have been submitted at this stage which show 
a rectangular building footprint of 15 x 6 metres located centrally within the site with 
the long front elevation facing the Firth of Clyde. The existing private access serving 
the three dwellinghouses nearby would be extended to create an access for the 
proposed dwellinghouse. An indicative parking and turning layout is shown at the 
northern end of the site. The remainder of the site would be garden ground. It is 
proposed to connect to the public water supply and public sewer network. 

It is also proposed to remove trees to create the development site. 

Settlement Strategy
Policy LDP DM1– Development within the Development Management Zones states 
that:
“Encouragement shall be given to sustainable forms of development as follows:-
(E) Within the Countryside Zone up to small scale* on appropriate infill, rounding off 
and redevelopment sites and changes of use of existing buildings. In exceptional cases 
development in the open countryside up to and including large scale* may be 
supported on appropriate sites if this accords with an ACE**. There is a presumption 
against development that seeks to extend an existing settlement into the Countryside 
Zone.”
Furthermore the supporting text provides the following commentary:

“1.1.6 Housing in Countryside Zone
The Countryside Zone does not have the general capacity to successfully absorb any 
scale of new housing development when it is located away from existing buildings. 

Page 39



Consequently, the presumption in favour of new housing development is restricted to 
change of use of existing buildings or small-scale development in close proximity to 
existing buildings on infill, rounding-off, and redevelopment sites, where these are not 
immediately adjacent to defined settlement boundaries.
1.1.7 Notwithstanding the initial presumption against new housing development, on a 
bareland croft or where an operational need has been established and the applicant 
demonstrates that there is a specific locational need to be on, or in the near vicinity of 
the proposed site, small-scale housing may be considered in locations away from 
existing buildings within this zone. This is provided there is sufficient capacity to 
successfully integrate the proposed housing development within the landscape. The 
planning authority will conduct an Area Capacity Evaluation (ACE) in order to assess 
the direct and cumulative landscape impact of any such development. The ACE 
process is further explained in SG Area Capacity Evaluation.”
In this instance the proposal is located outwith the settlement boundary of Dunoon 
within a woodland setting and divorced from any other form of development.  It is not, 
therefore, considered infill, redevelopment or rounding off.  The applicant has not 
submitted an exceptional case such as that of a single house on a bareland croft but 
rather just an application for a house in open countryside.  With this in mind the 
principle of development is not consistent with the LDP.  Given that the proposal is 
recommended for refusal and there is no exceptional case being presented by the 
applicant an area capacity evaluation (ACE) as per policy SG LDP ACE is not required.  
The application proposes a residential property in open countryside in a 
woodland setting divorced from the existing settlement of Dunoon and any other 
development.  It cannot be considered infill, redevelopment or rounding off given 
its proximity to existing development.  It is considered that there are plenty of 
development opportunities within the settlement boundaries of settlements in 
the Cowal peninsula and that the application is not of sufficient merit to justify 
either an exceptional case or a departure to the policy.  With this in mind the 
application is not consistent with policies LDP STRAT 1, LDP DM 1 and 
supplementary guidance SG LDP HOU 1.  

Landscape Impact
The proposal would be located to the west of an existing small cluster of properties by 
some 80m.  To the north west is another property some 85m whilst to the south east 
and south are further properties some 30m and 65m away respectively.  The ground 
rises from sea level to some 40m AOD whilst it continues to rise up behind the site 
providing coastal backdrop to the settlement.  

Policy SG LDP ENV 14 – Landscape states that:  

“Outwith National Scenic Areas and Areas of Panoramic Quality, Argyll and Bute 
Council will consider landscape impact when assessing development proposals, and 
will resist development when its scale, location or design will have a significant adverse 
impact on the character of the landscape unless it is demonstrated that:
(A) Any such effects on the landscape quality are clearly outweighed by social, 
economic or environmental benefits of community wide importance; AND
(B) The Council is satisfied that all possible mitigation measures have been 
incorporated into the development proposal to minimise adverse effects.
Developments will be expected to be consistent with Policy LDP 9 – Development 
Setting, Layout and Design, associated SG.”

Page 40



In this area of land at Bullwood there are two distinctive components to this landscape. 
Firstly, it is principally a low lying linear settlement that has evolved along the coast 
which is characteristic of the corridor between Innellan and Dunoon. This development 
corridor is narrow in character although in occasion as is the case as at Glengarr (250m 
to the south of the application site) it extends inwards where the topography permits. 
There is limited development along this strip in the form of infill, rounding off and 
redevelopment opportunities. 
Secondly, there are the steeply rising wooded slopes which rise above the coastal 
strip. Within this area trees predominate the slopes, which are primarily semi ancient 
natural woodland, interspersed with rhododendron infiltration. This area is almost 
wholly free of any development apart from the three houses to the north on the site of 
a former caravan park. In addition and further up this hillside is another house close to 
the former gun emplacement and lookout (i.e. the applicant’s house). The latter area 
is visible neither to public view nor from the application site.

The application site is in an elevated location on rising ground above the coastal strip 
and to the rear of and above dwellinghouses Ardhallow House and Thie Vane. In view 
of its physical and visual relationship with the rising wooded slopes above the coastal 
plain, the site is located within the second Area of Common Landscape Character as 
described above. 
One of the key characteristics of the area of common landscape character within which 
the site is situated is that the wooded rising slopes above the coastal plain are largely 
free from any development. There are only two areas of development within these 
slopes, the existing house and gun emplacement which is completely screened and 
the three new houses to the north of the site which is well screened. The wooded 
slopes above the coastal strip which are free of any development and this is the Key 
characteristic of this area of Bullwood.
In light of the areas of common character as detailed above, the ability of this 
landscape to absorb further development varies between the coastal plain and the 
wooded slopes on the western periphery of Bullwood.
The coastal plain area is principally a low-lying linear settlement that has evolved along 
the coast which is characteristic of the narrow coastal corridor between Innellan and 
Dunoon. This development corridor is narrow in character although on occasion it 
extends inwards where the topography permits as is the case as at Glengarr. There 
exists limited development opportunities along this strip for infill, rounding off and 
redevelopment and it is important to recognise that these are examples of clusters of 
development as opposed to single divorced houses. 
On the wooded slopes above Bullwood, opportunities for development are not readily 
apparent. The elevated wooded hillside along the boundaries of the A815 is almost 
wholly free from any development, the three dwellings at the former caravan park were 
only permitted on the basis that they would result in the removal of a dilapidated 
caravan site and represented an environmental gain and they form their own cluster of 
development. There is no element of environmental gain, which could be associated 
with the development of this site that might justify the proposal.
There exists a fragile relationship between the settlement and the rural fringe boundary 
of Bullwood and between Innellan and Dunoon is reflected in the boundaries of the 
Local Development Plan Countryside Zone to protect the woodland within which the 
site is situated.  With the removal of trees and vegetation, the site itself would be clearly 
visible to public view along the A815 when travelling northwards to both short and long 
distance views.

Page 41



The development of this site to accommodate a dwelling would have an adverse 
environmental impact by its erosion and intrusion into this landscape, and would 
establish uncoordinated and unjustified development that would be at variance 
to the established settlement pattern of Bullwood.  With this in mind the 
application is not consistent with the provisions of policy SG LDP ENV 14.   

Impact on Trees / Woodland
The application proposes to clear the development site of trees.  Policy SG LDP ENV 
6 provides a general presumption against the loss of trees whilst also recognising the 
importance these areas play to biodiversity.  
Policy SG LDP ENV 6 – Development Impact on Trees / Woodland states that:

“The Council will also resist development likely to have an adverse impact on trees by 
ensuring through the development management process that adequate provision is 
made for the preservation of and where appropriate the planting of new 
woodland/trees, including compensatory planting and management agreements.”
It is considered that the siting of the proposed development within this woodland would 
adversely affect its integrity and erode its setting contrary to the provisions of SG LDP 
ENV 6. To accommodate a dwellinghouse within the location will necessitate the felling 
of a large number of deciduous trees and rhododendrons on the eastern periphery of 
a woodland setting. This woodland is particularly important as it serves to both define 
the urban fringe of the settlement of Bullwood and contributes to the wider landscape 
setting of this area of Countryside Zone between Innellan and Dunoon  
The applicant has not provided any details of those trees to be felled or a 
replanting regime.  There are no habitat or species surveys to support the 
application.  The planning authority recognises the value held by areas of 
undesignated woodland in landscape, visual and biodiversity terms.  Therefore, 
the proposal is not consistent with the aims of policy SG LDP ENV 6.  

Infrastructure
The proposed private road could hypothetically be extended to accommodate the 
proposed dwellinghouse and on the basis of the submitted plan, the site would be 
capable of car parking and turning provision.   Roads offer no objections subject to 
conditions regarding sightlines and car parking.
The applicant intends to connect to Scottish Water’s infrastructure with which the 
planning authority would have no concerns.  
With conditions the proposal could be consistent with policy SG LDP TRAN 4, 
SG LDP TRAN 6 and SG LDP SERV 1.  

Conclusions
The proposed development is not in accordance with the Local Development Plan 
Policies LDP DM 1 and SG LDP HOU1 that allow for infill, rounding off and 
redevelopment related to the existing built form. For the reasons advanced in the 
report, the proposed development is not in keeping with the established settlement 
pattern of the area. If permitted, this would encourage piecemeal and uncoordinated 
development along the upper boundaries of Bullwood, eroding the existing woodland 
and undermining the fragile relationship that exists between the established settlement 
pattern of Bullwood and the coastal corridor between Innellan and Dunoon, contrary to 
the provisions of policies LDP DM1 and SG LDP HOU1.
The proposed dwellinghouse by virtue of its divorced location and siting would look out 
of place and at odds with the established settlement pattern of the area and would 
adversely affect the landscape setting of this wooded area within the Countryside Zone 

Page 42



to its detriment. Consequently, the fragile balance between the urban/rural fringe on 
the periphery of Bullwood would be distorted. The capacity of the area to assimilate 
new development is not readily apparent. The proposal would result in development 
conflicting with the established settlement pattern contrary to the provisions of policies 
LDP STRAT1, LDP DM1, SG LDP HOU1 and SG LDP ENV6 of the Argyll and Bute 
Local Development Plan (March 2016) including Argyll and Bute Supplementary 
Guidance (approved March 2016).
Given the above, the planning history of the site and having regard to the policies 
contained in the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan, it is considered that the 
proposal to erect a dwellinghouse in woodland within the Countryside Zone is 
inconsistent with policies contained in the LDP and there are no special circumstances 
or material considerations which would justify approval. 

_________________________________________________________________________
(Q) Is the proposal consistent with the Development Plan:  No
_________________________________________________________________________
(R) Reason why Planning Permission in Principle should be refused. 

1. In the absence of any sound locational need for a dwelling, development of this hillside on 
the western periphery of Bullwood is unrelated and uncoordinated with the existing 
settlement pattern of the area contrary to the provisions of policies LDP STRAT1, LDP 
DM1, LDP8, LDP9 and SG LDP HOU2 of the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan in 
that the Countryside Zone in which the application site is located, does not have the 
general capacity to successfully absorb any scale of new housing development located 
away from existing buildings. The proposed development does not represent infill, 
rounding-off, or redevelopment and there is no specific locational need for a dwellinghouse 
in this location. 

2. The proposed development would result in an adverse environmental impact having 
regard to the divorced, exposed, elevated and unduly prominent location within this 
sensitive and fragile woodland within the Countryside Zone. The landscape quality of the 
area is neither maintained nor enhanced and a new dwelling at this site would fail to reflect 
the coastal development of this area which are key features of the landscape that provide 
visual relief and a significant contribution to the landscape. The western slopes above 
Bullwood do not have the capacity to assimilate new individual isolated dwellinghouses 
that are separated or divorced from the existing coastal corridor having regard to the 
established settlement pattern.

By virtue of its divorced location and undue prominence within this sensitive and fragile 
woodland, development of the site for a dwellinghouse would be clearly visible from the 
A815 and the site cannot be developed without establishing an adverse environmental 
impact to the detriment of the rural landscape. The proposal will represent an intrusive 
structure within the surrounding rural landscape contrary to the provisions of policies LDP 
10 and SG LDP ENV14 of the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan.

3. The proposal by virtue of the necessity to fell a large number of trees within this woodland 
is contrary to the provisions of policies LDP 3 and SG LDP ENV6 of the Argyll and Bute 
Local Development Plan which states that the Council will resist development likely to have 
an adverse impact on trees by ensuring through the development management process 
that adequate provision is made for the preservation of and where appropriate the planting 
of new woodland/trees, including compensatory planting and management agreements.

_________________________________________________________________________

Page 43



(S) Reasoned justification for a departure from the provisions of the Development 
Plan
n/a

_________________________________________________________________________
(T) Need for notification to Scottish Ministers:  No
_________________________________________________________________________

Author of Report: Brian Close Date: 17th August 2018

Reviewing Officer:  David Love Date:  24th August 2018

Angus Gilmour

Head of Planning & Regulatory Services

Page 44



REASON FOR REFUSAL RELATIVE TO APPLICATION REFERENCE 18/01267/PPP

1. In the absence of any sound locational need for a dwelling, development of this hillside on 
the western periphery of Bullwood is unrelated and uncoordinated with the existing 
settlement pattern of the area contrary to the provisions of policies LDP STRAT1, LDP 
DM1, LDP8, LDP9 and SG LDP HOU2 of the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan in 
that the Countryside Zone in which the application site is located, does not have the 
general capacity to successfully absorb any scale of new housing development located 
away from existing buildings. The proposed development does not represent infill, 
rounding-off, or redevelopment and there is no specific locational need for a dwellinghouse 
in this location. 

2. The proposed development would result in an adverse environmental impact having 
regard to the divorced, exposed, elevated and unduly prominent location within this 
sensitive and fragile woodland within the Countryside Zone. The landscape quality of the 
area is neither maintained nor enhanced and a new dwelling at this site would fail to reflect 
the coastal development of this area which are key features of the landscape that provide 
visual relief and a significant contribution to the landscape. The western slopes above 
Bullwood do not have the capacity to assimilate new individual isolated dwellinghouses 
that are separated or divorced from the existing coastal corridor having regard to the 
established settlement pattern.

By virtue of its divorced location and undue prominence within this sensitive and fragile 
woodland, development of the site for a dwellinghouse would be clearly visible from the 
A815 and the site cannot be developed without establishing an adverse environmental 
impact to the detriment of the rural landscape. The proposal will represent an intrusive 
structure within the surrounding rural landscape contrary to the provisions of policies LDP 
10 and SG LDP ENV14 of the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan.

3. The proposal by virtue of the necessity to fell a large number of trees within this woodland 
is contrary to the provisions of policies LDP 3 and SG LDP ENV6 of the Argyll and Bute 
Local Development Plan which states that the Council will resist development likely to have 
an adverse impact on trees by ensuring through the development management process 
that adequate provision is made for the preservation of and where appropriate the planting 
of new woodland/trees, including compensatory planting and management agreements.

Page 45



APPENDIX TO DECISION REFUSAL NOTICE

Appendix relative to application 18/01267/PPP

 ______________________________________________________________________ 

(A)     Submitted Drawings 
For the purpose of clarity it is advised that this decision notice relates to the following 
refused drawings: 

1415-01-02 Rev B 1:2500 Location Plan;

1415-01-04 Rev A 1:500 Block Plan;

1415-01-05 Rev A 1:500 Proposed Site Plan.

(B) Has the application been the subject of any “non-material” amendment in terms of 
Section 32A of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) to 
the initial submitted plans during its processing?

No. 

Page 46



Response to LRB Statement 01267 - 18/0008/LRB 
 
 
Reference No: 18/01267/PPP 
 
Architeco – on behalf of Mr McNeil 
 
Dwelling house South of 91 Bullwood Road, Dunoon 
 
 
8th November 2018 
 
 
We would like to respond to the Statement to reiterate:  
 
 

1. The proposed development would constitute rounding off of an existing 
development.  The building would form part of the existing settlement 
pattern. The access road already exists and services are nearby –the 
map used by the council shows the grey access road terminating at 
this site. This site is a brownfield site – evidenced by an existing 
concrete area that would have been part of a previous building that is 
described as a ‘waterlogged’ area, as noted in the LRB statement. 
Historical maps, from 1900, show quite clearly a building on the site.  
(This would predate the local plan mentioned). 
 

2. We note the added information about the neighbouring historic site – 
however this is not part of the proposed site.  
 

3. The environmental impact would depend entirely on the design of any 
proposed development. There is potential for a well-designed, low-
impact, energy efficient dwelling to enhance the local area. This would 
be in line with the local plan’s aim to create quality housing.  
 

4. As stated clearly, and shown on the map, the site is a cleared site. Due 
to the owner working away, he has been unable recently to clear 
saplings so there are various recently self seeded saplings on the site. 
None of these constitute ‘semi-mature’ trees (defined as: ’minimum 
girth of the main stem 20cm measured 1m above the ground (diameter 
about 6cm) and height 5.0m’.* The owner intends to clear the scrub 
and saplings from the site shortly. We do not see a way that this site 
could be described as ‘semi-mature woodland’.  

 
We would like to note also that there was previously a successful planning 
application, in 1974, as noted in the history of the site, although this was 
never implemented.  
 
*(definition is abridged from A – Z of tree terms: A companion to British 
arboriculture.). 

Page 47 Agenda Item 3c



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Notice of Review and Supporting Documentation
	1415 Notice of Review 91 Bullwood Road
	1415-01-01B Location Plan
	1415-01-01B Location Plan

	1415 A4 Location Plan
	1415 - A4 Location Plan
	01 Location Plan


	1415-01-03A Existing Site Plan
	1415-01-03A Existing Site Plan

	1415-01-04A Proposed Site Plan
	1415-01-04A Proposed Site Plan

	1415-01-02 Design Statement
	1415-01-02 Design Statement 

	OS Map 1900

	3b Comments from Interested Parties
	3c Comments from Applicant

